OAIDS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 75,180 4th DCA Case No. 88-0727

LORETTA KONNEY, etc., et al.

Respondents.

PALM BEACH COUNTY,

Petitioner,

VS.

LORETTA KONNEY, etc., et al.

Respondents.

Case No. 75,241 4th DCA Case No. 88-0727

FILED

JUL 18 1990

LERK, SUPPLEME COURT

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER, PALM BEACH COUNTY'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS WITH APPENDIX

CHRISTOPHER D. MAURIELLO, ESQ. ASSISTANT COUNTY ATTORNEY POST OFFICE BOX 1989

Digwal

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Defendant/Petitioner, PALM BEACH COUNTY, shall hereinafter be referred to as "COUNTY." The Defendant/Petitioner, STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, shall hereinafter be referred to as "SOF DOT." If used together the COUNTY and SOF DOT will be referred to as "PETITIONERS."

The Plaintiff/Respondent, LORETTA KONNEY shall hereinafter be referred to as "KONNEY."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This proceeding is brought to review a decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District, which affirmed a judgment for the Plaintiff/Respondent, KONNEY, entered pursuant to a jury verdict in the Circuit Court for Palm Beach County.

The Respondent, KONNEY, brought suit in the 15th Judicial Circuit as personal representative of the estate of Douglas M. Konney, decedent. The action sought damages for the alleged wrongful death of the decedent.

On December 18, 1987, the jury returned a verdict in favor of KONNEY and against each petitioner, finding the COUNTY 60% responsible and SOF DOT 40% responsible, accessing KONNEY'S damages at \$260,000.00; \$150,000.00 for the estate, \$35,000.00 for LORETTA KONNEY, as survivor, and \$75,000.00 for Ricky Konney, as survivor.

The COUNTY and SOF DOT thereafter served timely motions for a new trial and to set aside the verdict (R. 3244-3248), said Motions were denied by the Trial Court (R. 3266-3269). On February 23, 1988, the Court entered a Cost Judgment in favor of the Respondent/Konney, and against the Petitioners, SOF DOT and COUNTY, in the amount of \$11,206.01, and a final judgment against SOF DOT in the amount of \$99,400.00 and against the COUNTY in the amount of \$149,100.00 (R-3270-3273).

On March 18, 1988 and on March 25, 1988, SOF DOT and the COUNTY, respectively, filed their Notices of Appeal to the Fourth District Court. On July 19, 1989, the Fourth District Court affirmed the decision of the Trial Court (App. #1). Following timely Motions for Rehearing and Certification by the Petitioner SOF DOT filed on August 3, 1989 (App. #4). District Court granted a Rehearing and entered a modified opinion on November 15, 1989 (App. #7); the decision was ultimately rendered by the Court's entry of an Order, dated November 21, 1989, denying SOF DOT'S Motion for Certification (App. #10). Thereafter, on December 11, 1989, Petitioner, SOF DOT filed its Notice of Intent to Invoke a Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court (Case No. 75,180; App. #11). On December 20, 1989, Petitioner, PALM BEACH COUNTY, filed its Notice of Intent to

Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court (Case No. 75,240; App. #13). Upon Motion by the COUNTY on January 12, 1980 (App. #15) this Court consolidated the aforementioned cases for all appellate purposes and granted the COUNTY permission to adopt the jurisdictional brief filed by SOF DOT (App. #18).

On June 20, 1990, this Court accepted jurisdiction of the consolidated cases (App. #19).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This suit arises out of an automobile accident which occurred at about 9:15 p.m. on January 23, 1983 at the intersection of State Road 710 (Beeline Highway) and County Road 809 (West Lake Park Road) (R: 542, 550-1).

State Road 710 and the traffic control devices governing traffic thereon were under DOT jurisdiction; County Road 809 and the traffic control devices governing traffic thereon was under County jurisdiction (R: 1784-1785). SR 710 ran generally from the Northwest to the Southeast; C809 ran generally east to west; they intersected in a manner to create two acute and two obtuse angles rather than, as is more common, four right angles (R: 689-90; App. 21). In order to facilitate turning and reduce the hazard of right hand turns on a skew angle, the intersection had two additional legs as illustrated in the Appendix diagram hereto (R: 985-986; App. 21). Traffic travelling west upon C809 was governed by a stop sign at the main intersection; 488 feet in advance of the stop sign was a stop ahead warning sign; in addition, the roadway surface was painted with appropriate stop bars and markings in reflective paint (R: 937-938; 1403). The speed limit on C809 was 55 mph (R: 1401). Traffic moving south on SR 710 had the right of way through the intersection. There were no traffic signals at the intersection on the date of this accident.

On Friday, January 23, 1983, George Funk with a friend Mark Sylvester, drove down to Gulfstream race track in Hallandale, Florida from Stuart, Florida in Funk's Thunderbird (R: 588-589). While there, according to Sylvester, Funk consumed two beers and, perhaps, a hot dog over the course of 2-3 hours (R. 592-593; 610). They left the track at 5:30 - 6:00 p.m., and, after some difficulty in locating I-95 they proceeded north on US-1 to a bar in Lake Worth (R. 601, 604). According to Sylvester, they each had only one drink at the bar and left after about an hour, driving north to Northlake Boulevard (R. 594,

¹ For purpose of simplification in reciting the facts, the northwest direction of SR 710 will be referred to as north and the southeast direction as south.

596). Thereafter, they drove west on Northlake (C809), intending to reach SR 710 and travel northwest to 711 and from there to 76 before heading back east to their destination (R. 596, 605-608). Both Funk and Sylvester were somewhat familiar with the C809 - SR 710 intersection (R. 597, 613).

As Funk and Sylvester travelled on C809 west of Military Trail, they were followed by Kenneth Parramore, a game officer (R: 545). Although Parramore did not observe their vehicle weaving, it did slow down and speed up on several occasions with no apparent purpose over the last two miles before it reached the intersection (R: 548, 565-566). He observed Funk and Sylvester in sustained conversation up to 1/4 mile from the intersection -- after which he did not have occasion to see if they were still talking (R. 548, 569). The speed of the Funk vehicle was between 45-55 mph (R. 546). When Parramore was several hundred feet from the main intersection, he observed the glow of headlights from a car (Konney) headed south on SR 710 (R. 552-553, 569-570). At that point he was several car lengths behind Funk and began to slow down for a right turn (R. 570). Funk continued into the intersection, ignoring the stop sign without slowing and without applying his brakes (R. 550-1). Parramore had no trouble seeing the stop sign, which was clearly visible that night (R. 567, 573, 648-649).

Douglas Konney was an employee at Pratt-Whitney; he had, over the preceding years, worked on both the first (8:00 a.m. - 4:00 p.m.) shift and the second (4:00 p.m. - 12:00 a.m.) shift (R. 1477, 1953-1954). On the date of the accident, he had been working the second shift and got off at about 9:00 p.m.; he was headed home in his Camaro (R. 1479). He always drove SR 710 to and from work, night and day (R. 1955-1956).

As Konney approached the intersection, he apparently observed Funk's vehicle passing or about to pass the stop sign and applied his brakes, leaving 35 and 41 foot skid marks prior to the impact between the two vehicles (R. 631, Def.'s Ex. 4). Konney was killed in the collision; Funk, complaining afterward of chest pains, died that night in the hospital; Sylvester survived with less serious injuries.

Parramore, observing the accident, called for police and emergency

assistance and returned to the scene within 5 minutes of the accident (R. 554-555). He smelled the strong odor of alcohol in and about the Funk vehicle when he checked on the condition of Funk and Sylvester (R. 558; 584-585). There was no spilled or broken alcohol containers in the car and Sylvester denied that they had any alcohol with them (R. 570, 595, 612, 635-636).

The investigating officer, Deputy Charles Bowers, had blood drawn from Funk at the hospital (R. 632, 650, 1537-1565, 1942-1945). It indicated a blood alcohol level of .095 at the time of drawing; at the time of the accident it would have been higher (Pintacuda's deposition).

The DOT accident records indicated that the section of SR 710 which included the main intersection and two legs (1/3 of a mile length) was far below the statewide accident rate averages for such sections of two-lane roads (Pl.'s Ex. 33; Def.'s Ex. 2 a & b; R: 841, 856-61). From 1973-1977, there were no recorded accidents on the section; in 1978-1982 there were a total of 12 accidents at the intersection (Pl's. Ex. 2 a & b). The accident rates for these latter years were 3.546, 1.209, 3.448, 0 and 5.174 accidents per million vehicle miles. The statewide average ran between 11.116 and 12.412 for these years (Pl.'s Ex. 33). Thus in all prior years the accident rate was significantly less than 1/3 of the statewide average, except for 1982 when it was about 40% of the statewide average.

Since C809 was a county road, the traffic count upon that road was not included in the average daily traffic count for section of SR 710. The inclusion of this additional traffic passing through the intersection would lower the computed accident rate even further (R. 862-864).

The DOT identifies potentially dangerous sections (whether straight sections, curved sections or intersections) of the state road system through use of a computer generated list called a High Accident Section List. The List for the DOT'S 4th District, which encompasses Palm Beach County, includes about 200 such sections each year (R. 840). On no year did this intersection appear on the list (R.782).

KONNEY contended that the DOT and COUNTY should have installed a

flashing traffic control beacon at the intersection which would flash red for traffic on C809 and yellow on SR 710 (R.939). KONNEY also contended that the COUNTY should have installed rumble strips on C809 at the approach to the intersection (R.939). Finally, KONNEY criticized the location and type of signing on each roadway.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The COUNTY raises four (4) separate points on appeal which individually and taken together resulted in harmful error at the trial below.

- erred by allowing KONNEY to submit that a flashing beacon should have been installed at the intersection in question. This was a basic discretionary decision which also involved a capital improvement and therefore sovereign immunity barred such argument. Additionally, this case does not center upon the "known dangerous condition" exception recognized in Florida to a claim of sovereign immunity since the flashing beacon in this case was designed and classified as a traffic control device, not a warning device.
- (2) Over objection the trial judge allowed KONNEY'S expert to testify as to 18 prior and subsequent accidents occurring at the intersection in question.

KONNEY'S expert relied solely upon the written police accident reports to argue that a dangerous condition existed at the intersection and that these other accidents were substantially similar to KONNEY'S. The COUNTY objected to the grounds that these reports were hearsay and that an inability to cross-examine the suppliers of the information was extremely prejudicial.

Additionally, many of these other accidents occurred <u>after</u> the COUNTY installed rumble strips on the roadway. The installation of rumble strips was a remedial measure taken subsequent to KONNEY'S accident. It was part of the two-tier warning system (rumble strip and flashing beacon) which KONNEY contended would have made the intersection safe at the time of Mr. Konney's accident (R. 481, 941). Accidents occurring subsequent to the installation of rumble strips were, therefore, not substantially similar to KONNEY'S accident since this was a material change in condition.

(3) The trial judge erred by excluding the testimony of toxicologist, Jay Pintacuda, and the disclosure of the alcohol level of one of the drivers (Mr. Funk). This evidence which was the crux of the PETITIONERS' case was excluded on reliability and authenticity of the blood drawing and

testing procedure. Moreover, since Mr. Funk was a driver of the vehicle that collided with and killed Mr. Konney his actions (including alcohol consumption) went directly to this issue of causation and were extremely relevant.

(4) At the trial below the judge made prejudicial opening remarks to the jury including a comment inferring lack of due care by PALM BEACH COUNTY which was a named defendant in this lawsuit. Since the comments were made before the jury was sworn, the judge abused her discretion by not dismissing the venire after an objection was made by counsel. The comments which centered around poor courthouse conditions were not only recounted a number of times by the judge but were reinforced by strong media attention to the issue.

ISSUE PRESENTED UNDER THIS COURT'S POWER TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF THE NEED FOR A FLASHING BEACON AT THE INTERSECTION IN QUESTION

During the pretrial hearings the trial judge heard arguments from SOF DOT and the COUNTY to exclude evidence regarding the need to install a flashing beacon at the intersection in question. (R. 4-22; 29-35; 86-105).

There has never been a flashing beacon at the intersection nor has a decision to install one been made prior to Konney's accident. The Petitioners argued that the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity did not extend to evidence of a flashing beacon since:

- (A) A flashing beacon installed at the intersection in question is a traffic control device.
- (B) Installation of a flashing beacon has specifically been found to involve a major capital expenditure.
- (C) Installation of a flashing beacon involves a decision at the planning level versus operational level of government.
- (A) A Flashing Beacon Installed at the Intersection is a Traffic Control Device

Originally, the trial judge granted the Petitioner's Motion to exclude any evidence regarding the decision or need for a flashing beacon. (R. 22). She later reversed herself when KONNEY argued that the case sub judice is distinguishable from this Court's decision in <u>Department of Transportation v. Neilson</u>, 419 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982), since the flashing beacon in this case is a warning device not a traffic control device (R. 105).

In a similar vein KONNEY argued that the instant case was more aligned with Perez v. Department of Transportation, 435 So.2d 830 (Fla. 1983), since Perez involved an allegation of a known dangerous condition. (R. 16-17).

In <u>Neilson</u>, however, the plaintiff alleged the need for a flashing beacon at the intersection in order to warn of hazardous conditions. Specifically, paragraph 17 of the plaintiff's complaint in <u>Neilson</u> alleged that the intersection because of its geometry was:

dangerous and hazardous to motorists traversing the streets merging into said intersection; that said streets merging into said intersection were not adequately controlled with traffic control signs and devices, to wit: red, green and yellow traffic signals positioned in such a manner as to govern the flow of traffic to said intersections in an orderly manner or blinking and flashing lights clearly indicating to the motorist approaching said intersection that same was a hazardous and dangerous intersection and governing the flow of traffic accordingly and such necessary traffic control devices so as to alert the motorist using said intersecting streets of the nature of the dangerous and defective roadway and intersection. Neilson at 1073-74, Footnote 2.

As stated by this court,

As we read it, the <u>Neilson's</u> complaint alleges failure to . . . warn of hazardous conditions through the installation of traffic control devices. <u>Id.</u> at 1078.

Therefore, assuming arguendo, that the flashing beacon is a traffic control device which is/can be used as a warning device the instant case is indistinguishable from Neilson.

Although the <u>Perez</u> decision concern the "known dangerous condition" exception to governmental immunity, <u>Perez</u> did not involve traffic control devices more directly addressed in <u>Neilson</u>. Nothing in <u>Perez</u> conflicts with this court's recognition in <u>Neilson</u> that upgrading a roadway with more sophisticated methods of traffic control devices than those actually used cannot give rise to liability. <u>Neilson</u> at 1076, citing <u>Romine v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 401 So.2d 882 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) review denied, 412 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1982).

Equally important, the basis used by the trial judge to distinguish this case from Neilson (beacon as a warning device versus traffic control device) crumbled by the end of the testimony of KONNEYS' engineering expert, Mr. Arnold Ramos. Initially, Mr. Ramos testified that a "hazard identification beacon"

(Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices §4(E)(1) (1978)) as opposed to the "intersection control beacon" (§4(E)(3)) should have been placed by the PETITIONERS at the intersection.² (R. 942-3). On cross examination, however, Mr. Ramos openly recognized that he had made a mistake and that the hazard identification beacon could not, in fact, be used at the intersection in question³ (R. 1001-2; 1129-30). Thus, KONNEY'S preliminary argument that a flashing beacon was part of the "highest level of warning available" suddenly became unavailable.

The only remaining device available to KONNEY became the "intersection control beacon." Said device is not a warning device at all but which is, by definition, a traffic control signal⁴ (R. 997-1008; Pl.s Ex. 18, \$4(E)(3)). Thus, although KONNEY has consistently argued that she pled the "known dangerous condition" exception under <u>Perez</u> evidence of the flashing beacon had nothing to do with PETITIONERS duty to warn.

In actuality this case treads directly upon the numerous decisions including Neilson which recognize that traffic control as opposed to warning of a known dangerous condition is strictly within the police power of the governmental entity. Neilson at 1077; Romine v. Metropolitan Dade County, 401 So.2d 882 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); Palm Beach County Board of County Commissioners v. Salas, 511 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1987); Ralph v. City of Daytona Beach, 412 So.2d 875, 878 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

(B) Installation of a Flashing Beacon Involves a Major Capital Expenditure

Although this court has clearly recognized a concomitant duty to warn of a known dangerous condition, Collum, 419 So.2d 1082

² The "hazard" beacon has a circular yellow traffic signal head which flashes for both roads.

The M.U.T.C.D. forbids its use at an intersection where, inter alia, a stop sign is present - \$4(E)(1)(5).

⁴ KONNEY introduced numerous blowups depicting such beacons (Pl.s Exhibit #30 A-6)

(Fla. 1982) no case, except the instant, has obligated the government to construct a capital improvement such as an electric traffic control beacon.

In <u>Trianon Park Condominium v. City of Hialeah</u>, 468 So.2d 912, 917 (Fla. 1985) this court set forth certain "basic principles" regarding governmental tort liability. As this court made clear in <u>Trianon</u>:

There is no liability for the failure of a governmental entity to build, expand or modernize capital improvement such as buildings and roads. <u>Id.</u> at 912.

A flashing control device suggested by KONNEY requires the running of electrical wires, erection of concrete poles and a cost (Circa 1983) of up to \$12,000.00 (R. 970).

In <u>Neilson</u>, the precise issue considered by this Court was whether the decisions concerning the installation of traffic control devices may constitute omissions or negligent acts which subject the government to liability. <u>Id</u>. at 1077. In answering the question in the negative this court specifically recognized the arguments made by the petitioning governmental entities that a contrary holding would in essence obligate the governments to build "cadillac" roadways and that no matter how the government decides to build a road the actions would be subject to second guessing and review by a judge and jury. <u>Id</u> at 1074. The COUNTY respectfully urges this court to recognize the inherent validity of these arguments.

KONNEY'S reliance on this court's decision in Palm Beach County Board of Commissioners v. Salas, 511 So.2d 444 (Fla. 1987) (Answer Brief to 4th DCA pgs. 8-9) is misplaced. Salas did not involve the issue of upgrading traffic control devices or the initiation of capital improvements, et al. In Salas, the COUNTY relied on minimum standards in a maintenance manual and asserted that the manual is the only proper standard of care. Id. at 545. Salas does not stand for the proposition as KONNEY suggests that once the plaintiff makes an allegation of a known dangerous condition the governmental entity must undertake major capital expenditures.

(C) Installation of a Flashing Beacon Involves a Decision at the Planning Level versus Operational Level of Government

As recognized by this Court in <u>Nielson</u> decisions regarding the installation of traffic control devices involves not only a capital expenditure but a discretionary decision which are judgmental, planning level functions. <u>Id.</u> at 1077.

This court recently revisited the so-called "discretionary function" in Kolb, 543 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1989).

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