IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

v.

LORETTA KONNEY, ETC., ET AL.,

Respondents.

PALM BEACH COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 75,241 4TH DCA CASE NO. 88-0727

CASE NO. 75,180

4TH DCA CASE NO.

LORETTA KONNEY, ETC., ET AL.,

Respondents.

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, LORETTA KONNEY, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF DOUGLAS KONNEY, DECEASED, ON MERITS WITH APPENDIX

Richard L. Martens, Esquire
BOOSE CASEY CIKLIN LUBITZ
MARTENS MCBANE & O'CONNELL
Morthbridge Tower - 19th Floor
515 North Flagler Drive

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

Mr. Ramos also testified that studies have shown a direct correlation between the placement and priority of signs and reduced property damage and loss of life (R:975). Mr. Ramos testified the subject signage did not constitute good engineering standards (R:988) and overall was inadequate and improperly placed (R:922; 934-937), clearly allowing the jury to imply a causal nexus. Fla. Stat §90.301.

The jury's finding of no comparative negligence by Mr. Konney demonstrates that he was not speeding. Because the 45 mile per hour sign was not utilized in conjunction with a reduced speed ahead sign, which Mr. Ramos testified should have been done (R:975), the jury most certainly could have drawn the logical implication that SOFDOT's failure to install a reduced speed ahead sign in conjunction with the

lowered speed limit sign would cause Mr. Konney not to see or not to see timely that he was required to reduce speed. Mr. Ramos testified that had Mr. Konney changed his speed, there would have been no impact (R:981). The jury was able to consider this testimony, along with his earlier testimony that the reduced speed ahead sign was necessary to give effect to the 45 mile per hour sign, but only if placed far enough in advance of the intersection to allow for meaningful comprehension and execution, all of which are factors equalling causation.

SOFDOT's cases are easily distinguishable. In <u>Gooding v. University Hospital Building</u>, Inc., 445 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 1984), the Court found no medical malpractice where the expert witness could not testify if the failure to diagnose and treat an abdominal aneurysm before the patient went into cardiac arrest caused his death. In <u>Lopez v. Florida Power & Light Co.</u>, 501 So.2d 1339 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), the electrocuted avocado picker, a man with sophisticated technical skills, was using a 16 foot metal pole in the daytime in his own backyard with nearby overhead wires readily apparent to him. In contrast, Mr. Konney was travelling 55 miles per hour, or 80 feet per second, at night. Mr. Ramos testified that even one such as Mr. Konney, who was familiar with the intersection, might not appreciate the dangers (R:950).

More analogous is <u>State Department of Transportation v. Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, 497 So.2d 678, where the District Court refused to grant a directed verdict to SOFDOT. That case involved a collision at a dangerous intersection. The court held that SOFDOT "had a duty to warn Brown, and that its breach of that duty was, at a minimum, a contributing cause of the accident." <u>Id</u>. at 680. In <u>Brown</u>, there was similarly no evidence that the plaintiff was aware of the particular hazards created by the layout, or even that he knew the intersection's configuration "created <u>any</u> type of unusually dangerous condition." <u>Id</u>. The court noted expert testimony demonstrating that the driver "might be thoroughly familiar with the intersection but still not appreciate the danger it presented unless he was warned in some manner, and that appropriate warnings would have prevented this accident." <u>Id</u>.

The instant case also has few parallels to Alene's Enterprises, Inc. v. Early, 475 So.2d 267 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). No witness in that case could testify that the defendant knew the glass would break apart when the plaintiff lifted it. In the instant case, Mr. Ramos testified repeatedly as to the factors which probably caused the accident (R:978-980). The trial court properly charged the jury with determining legal cause (R:2184).

In <u>Stahl v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 438 So.2d 14 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), Judge Hubbard spelled out, in scholarly detail, the law of Florida on proximate and legal causation. The court in <u>Stahl</u> recognized that:

Given the debatable nature of proximate cause issues in most such cases, it is not surprising that the courts have held that such issues are generally for juries to decide using their common sense upon appropriate instructions, although occasionally, when reasonably people cannot differ, the issue has been said to be one of law for the court.

Id. at 21 (citations omitted). Just as the court in <u>Stahl</u>, not knowing precisely why the deceased young boy left the bicycle path on which he was riding for his fatal collision with an automobile, refused to grant summary judgment on causation for the defendant, the trial court was eminently correct in refusing to grant the directed verdict sought by SOFDOT because Mr. Konney never lived to tell why he was not able to avoid his fatal crash. The jury was then entitled to weigh the evidence and reach its own conclusions.

VI.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED ON THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CERTAIN EXPERT TESTIMONY

A. <u>Deputy Bowers' Testimony Upon Matters of Accident Reconstruction and Investigation Was Proper.</u>

Deputy Bowers never gave an engineering opinion. Bowers was a traffic homicide investigator for the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office and a deputy sheriff (R:609). Assigned to the traffic division, he investigated and reconstructed traffic accidents

ranging from basic minor parking lot accidents to fatalities (R:621-622). By his conservative estimate, he had investigated approximately 1,000 accidents prior to the Konney accident (R:625). Bowers' job duties and responsibilities in the reconstruction and investigation of an accident included determination of its contributing causes. He had previously investigated intersectional accidents. As part of this determination, he would render an opinion as to contributing factors involved (R:625-626).

In 1983, in order to comply with the Florida Traffic Accident Report forms in use, he was required to determine whether an "engineering study" was necessary. He would check the box ("engineering study needed") found on the standard Florida Traffic Accident Report, if in his opinion it was pertinent (R:628).

Bowers was the homicide investigator for this case (R:629). He testified that he had collected physical evidence at the scene, including skid marks, and that he determined whether roadway conditions contributed to this accident (R:631-632).

County objected to Bowers' testimony as calling for an "engineering" opinion. However, SOFDOT did not object, nor did it join in the objection in any respect (R:633). Respondent then asked: "What was the basis of your feeling that there was an engineering study necessary at that particular location?" County then objected on the same grounds. Once again, however, SOFDOT failed to object, or in any way join in the objection (R:633). In order for SOFDOT to have preserved this issue for appeal, it had to make a timely objection to the introduction of evidence during the trial. SOFDOT has waived its objection. Swan v. Florida Farm Bureau Insurance Company, 404 So.2d 802, 803 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) (despite having filed a motion in

⁷At the time of trial, Bowers was a six-year veteran of the Sheriff's Office. For the past five years he had been a homicide accident investigator (R:622). Before joining the Sheriff's Office, he served six years as an officer with the Riviera Beach Police Department. After two years of road patrol in Riviera Beach, he spent four years in accident reconstruction and investigation (R:622-623). Bowers also had an educational background in accident reconstruction and investigation. In 1975, he went through the police academy with 320 hours by the Florida Standards Board (R:623-624). In 1978 he attended a 40-hour accident reconstruction course and an 80-hour accident investigation course. In 1982 he took an 80-hour traffic involvement course, and in 1984 he attended an 80-hour accident reconstruction course (R:624).

limine, party failing to object at trial did not comply with rule requiring contemporaneous objection to the introduction of evidence in order to preserve the issue for appellate review).

In its cross-examination of Bowers, SOFDOT clearly showed that when Bowers checked the box on the Traffic Accident Report to recommend the need for an engineering evaluation of the intersection he was not rendering an engineering opinion (R:638-639). Bowers stated that someone should look into this to see if there was a problem "based on my opinion and observation on that particular night, yes" (R:639). The trial court was well within her discretion to permit such testimony. Zwinge v. Hettinger, 530 So.2d 318, 324 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) (trooper could testify as to causation based upon his observation of the road conditions and his years of accident investigation); Dragon v. Grant, 429 So.2d 1329, 1330 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) (experienced investigator/trooper allowed to give expert testimony on where he concluded the point of impact had occurred). Fla. Stat. §90.702, permits a witness to qualify as an expert "by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education..." Deputy Bowers certainly met this standard.

B. <u>SOFDOT Had Adequate Cross-Examination to Determine the Basis for Bowers' Aforementioned Opinion.</u>

SOFDOT's questions to Deputy Bowers obviously called for him to speculate. Respondent's objection was properly sustained on these grounds (R:639-640). Despite the proffer, it is evident that Deputy Bowers was not testifying as to anything beyond his determination of the contributing factors in this accident. He was fulfilling his duties and responsibilities in trying to derive all contributing factors to the accident, including roadway conditions. SOFDOT has clearly not shown prejudice as a result of the trial court's proper evidentiary rulings. There was no resulting harmful error. On cross-examination, before the jury, Deputy Bowers testified that it was speculation on his part as to whether the engineering changes relating to signs and lights which he recommended after the accident would have had anything to do with avoiding this accident (R:646). SOFDOT made its point to the jury.

C. Hall's Testimony Relating to Sign Use and Placement Was Properly Excluded.

The trial court has the authority to exclude cumulative evidence. Fla. Stat. §90.612(1). A trial court may also limit the number of expert witnesses to testify as to the same fact. Stager v. Florida East Coast Railway Company, 163 So.2d 15, 17 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964). There is no error that can be committed by a trial court in excluding cumulative evidence, Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 530 (Fla. 1987), nor has any prejudice been shown.

SOFDOT did not list Hall as an expert on its pretrial stipulation (R:2751-2777a), but designated Bruce Friedman, Palm Beach County's expert, as its expert, the night before trial (R:1577). Mr. Friedman testified extensively (R:1834-1879) about those matters for which SOFDOT now claims severe prejudice because of the "preclusion" of Hall. Friedman covered everything in SOFDOT's proffer for Hall.

The trial court simply wouldn't let Hall testify as an expert as to why signs were placed at certain locations or why the signs found at the accident scene met the criteria of the MUTCD (R:1619). Clearly Hall, who was not an engineer, could not render an opinion about the MUTCD, which expressly stated that its use and interpretation is for traffic engineers (Plaintiff's Exhibit 18, p. 1A-3). Hall's job was only to make recommendations to the district engineer, who had to approve and decide whether or not to place signs or warnings devices (R:1580-1581). Mr. Friedman testified for SOFDOT (R:1834-1838; 1856-1879) on its conformity with the MUTCD and other standards, so SOFDOT suffered no prejudice. The trial court was vested with considerable discretion in determining Hall's qualifications. No abuse of that discretion has been shown to warrant reversal on this issue. Reinhart v. Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Company, supra, 422 So.2d at 44.

D. Ramos' Testimony as to Driver Perception and Appreciation of Dangers Was Properly Before the Jury.

Arnold Ramos testified within the sphere of his expertise. SOFDOT points out that "Ramos was a civil engineer, he was not a human factors engineer." (SOFDOT's Brief at p.29). Mr. Ramos testified, without objection, that as a traffic engineer,

when evaluating a given location to determine the type and placement of traffic control devices and warning devices, he had to consider human perception (R:906-907). SOFDOT's safety engineer Schmidt testified that perception and reaction time were an integral part of traffic engineering (R:815-816). SOFDOT's objections, coming after Ramos' testimony on that very issue (R:906), were waived. Fla. Stat. §90.104(1)(a). SOFDOT's objection (R:968-969) was even after Ramos testified, without objection, that an intersection could still be a trap to one familiar with it (R:950). The objection was raised for the first time when the question was repeated (R:968-969). Therefore, any arguable "error" was harmless and not grounds for reversal. Swan v. Florida Farm Bureau, supra, 404 So.2d at 803.

VII.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION 3.1(A) (PREEMPTIVE CHARGE ON DUTY OF CARE), AS THERE WAS AN ISSUE AS TO THE DEFENDANTS' DUTY OF CARE LITIGATED AT TRIAL

The court was correct in giving the preemptive charge on duty of care in Standard Jury Instruction 3.1(a). Had it been omitted, the jury might have not appreciated the duty SOFDOT genuinely owed Mr. Konney to use reasonable care. SOFDOT's duty was an issue raised in the pretrial stipulation (R:2751-2777a). Respondent presented it in her opening statement (R:482; 485), yet SOFDOT never conceded this duty. SOFDOT's argument that the trial court overemphasized a duty which it did not dispute is contradicted by the record.

In SOFDOT's opening statement, it made no reference to any duty owed by SOFDOT to Mr. Konney. In its closing argument, SOFDOT did not concede any duty owed to Mr. Konney (R:2090-2091). SOFDOT argued at length about Mr. Konney's familiarity with the intersection and his understanding of the conditions which he encountered (R:2105), suggesting that SOFDOT and Mr. Konney had equal opportunity to appreciate the risk. SOFDOT made no concessions that it, as owner of the highway, owed any duty to Mr. Konney. County, by contrast, stated that it had certain responsibilities to drivers on its roads (R:2120), yet never objected to use of this instruction (R:2007). In

this context, the court's instruction was also important to make clear to the jury that both defendants, each controlling a different highway, owed a duty to Mr. Konney. The court's instruction can thus be viewed as no more than an honest effort to keep the jury from assuming incorrectly that blame might only lie with one defendant, not both.

Without the court's 3.1(a) instruction, the jury may not have appreciated the duty which County and SOFDOT by law owed Mr. Konney. Cf., L.K. v. Water's Edge Association, 532 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) (where instruction not given in sexual assault case, jury misled on duty owed by condominium association and plaintiff entitled to new trial). Nothing in trial court's instructions expanded Petitioners' duties beyond those contested at trial. Immediately after the questioned preemptive charge, the court stated: "The issues for your determination on the claim of Loretta Konney against the State of Florida, DOT, are whether the DOT was negligent in failing to properly warn Douglas Konney of a dangerous condition known to the DOT which was not readily apparent to Douglas Konney, and, if so, whether such negligence was a legal cause of the loss or injury sustained by the Plaintiff" (R:2184). On the other hand, the omission would have harmed Respondent. See, Bell v. Harland Rayvals Transport, Ltd., 501 2d 1321, 1322-3 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (where issue of defendants' responsibility or duty to use reasonable care for plaintiff is raised, the 3.1(a) instruction is proper). SOFDOT and County cannot show the prejudice or harm required to reverse the verdict, Fla. Stat. §59.041; any error was extremely harmless.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth in Argument I, it is clear that the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, should be affirmed. Since the issue presented in Argument I was the only issue addressed in the District Court's opinion, for the arguments and authorities cited herein, the District Court's decision should be affirmed in all respects.